
UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION 
Washington, DC 

In the Matter of 

CERTAIN VISION-BASED DRIVER 
ASSISTANCE SYSTEM CAMERAS; 
COMPONENTS THEREOF, AND 
PRODUCTS CONTAINING THE SAME 

Investigation No. 337-TA-907 

COMMISSION OPINION 

I. INTRODUCTION .............................................................................................................. 3 
II. BACI(GROUND ................................................................................................................ 3 

A. Procedural History .............................................................................................................. 3 
B. Overview Of The Patents At Issue ...................................................................................... 7 

1. Overview of the '659 Patent ........................................................................................... 7 
2. Overview of the '840 Patent ........................................................................................... 9 

C. Products At Issue .............................................................................................................. 10 
III. NOTICE OF INVEST! GATION ...................................................................................... 10 
IV. IMPORTATION ............................................................................................................... 11 

A. The ID ............................................................................................................................... 11 
B. Analysis ............................................................................................................................. 11 

V. CONSTRUCTION OF THE ASSERTED CLAIMS OF THE '659 PATENT: 
WHETHER THE CLAIMS REQUIRE A CAMERA ...................................................... 12 

VI. INFRINGEMENT ............................................................... ~ ............................................. 16 
A. '659 Patent ........................................................................................................................ 16 

1. Direct Infringement ....................................................................................................... 16 
2. Contributory Infringement ............................................................................................ 20 
3. Induced Infringement ..................................................... ; .............................................. 22 

B. '840 Patent ........................................................................................................................ 26 
VII. VALIDITY ....................................................................................................................... 26 

A. Invalidity Under 35 U.S.C. § 112 ..................................................................................... 26 
B. Anticipation ....................................................................................................................... 26 

1. Rayner ........................................................................................................................... 26 
2. Batavia and SafeTrac Prototype .................................................................................... 28 

C. Obviousness ...................................................................................................................... 28 
1. Rayner in view of Blank ............................................................................................... 28 
2. Batavia, SafeTrac, and Navlab 1997 Demo .................................................................. 35 

D. America Invents Act ......................................................................................................... 3 5 
VIII. DOMESTIC INDUSTRY: TECHNICAL PRONG .......................................................... 36 

A. '840 Patent ........................................................................................................................ 3 6 

1 



B. 
IX. 

1. 
2. 

The ID ........................................................................................................................... 36 
Analysis ......................................................................................................................... 36 

'659 Patent ........................................................................................................................ 37 
CONCLUSION ................................................................................................................. 37 

2 



I. INTRODUCTION 

On April27, 2015, the presiding administrative law judge ("ALJ") issued his final initial 

determination ("ID") in this investigation, finding no violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 

1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337 ("section 337"). Specifically, the ID's findings include: (1) 

Respondent did not indirectly infringe U.S. Patent Nos. 8,686,840 ("the '840 patent") or 

· 8,692,659 ("the '659 patent"), 1 (2) the '840 patent is invalid, and (3) the domestic industry 

requirement has been met for the '659 patent but it has not been met for the '840 patent. ID at 

172. The Commission determined to review the ID on July 31, 2015. On review, the 

Commission finds no violation of section 3 3 7 has occurred. 

II. BACKGROUND 

A. Procedural History 

The Commission instituted this investigation on January 28, 2014, based on a complaint 

filed by Magna Electronics Inc. ("Magna") of Aubum Hills, Michigan. 79 Fed. Reg. 4490-91 

(Jan. 28, 2014). The complaint alleged violations of section 337 by reason of infringement of 

cetiain claims of U.S. Patent Nos. 8,116,929 ("the '929 patent") and 8,593,521 ("the '521 

patent") and that an industry in the United States exists or is in the process of being established 

as required by subsection (a)(2) of section 337. The complaint names TRW Automotive U.S., 

LLC of Livonia, Michigan as the respondent. The Office of Unfair Impmi Investigations 

("OUII") was named as a party to the investigation. 

On April10, 2014, Magna filed a motion to amend the complaint and notice of 

investigation to add the '840 patent and the '659 patent. Magna's motion also included a 

conditional element whereby if the motion to amend was granted, then Magna would terminate 

1 The Commission collectively refers to the '659 and '840 patents as the "assetied patents." 

3 



the investigation in part as to all claims ofthe '521 patent. On April21, 2014, TRW filed a 

response opposing the motion and OUII filed a response stating that it did not oppose the motion. 

On May 27, 2014, the ALJ issued an ID (Order No.6) finding that good cause existed to grant 

Magna's motion to amend the complaint and notice of investigation to add the '840 patent and 

the '659 patent to the investigation and to terminate the investigation as to the '521 patent. Order 

No.6, at 7. On June 4, 2014, TRW filed a timely petition for review of Order No.6. 

The Commission determined to review the ID (Order No.6) in part. On review, the 

Commission modified this ID by clarifying that the notice of investigation would be modified to 

add claims 30 and 36 ofthe '840 patent and claims 3, 37, 80, and 92 ofthe '659 patent, as well 

as terminate the investigation as to all claims of the '521 patent. The Commission detetmined 

not to review the remainder of the ID? 

On October 13, 2014, Magna filed an unopposed motion to terminate the investigation 

with respect to the '929 patent, which was granted on October 14, 2014. Order No. 12. On 

October 31, 2014, the Commission determined not to review this ID.3 

2 . . . 
79 Fed. Reg. 37351-52 (July 1, 2014). 

3 Notice of Commission Determination Not to Review an Initial Detetmination Granting an 
Unopposed Motion to Terminate the Investigation with Respect to All Asserted Claims of U.S. 
Patent No. 8,116,929 (Oct. 31, 2014). 
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On November 7, 2014, Magna filed an unopposed motion to terminate the investigation 

with respect to claims 37 and 80 of the '659 patent. The motion was granted on November 12, 

2014. Order No. 14. On December 8, 2014, the Commission determined not to review this ID.4 

The evidentiary hearing in this investigation was held on January 12-16, 2015. On April 

27,2015, the ALJ issued his final ID finding no violation of section 337 because he found that 

·TRW did not indirectly infringe the '840 and '659 patents and that the '840 patent was invalid. 

On May 11, 2015, Magna and TRW each filed petitions for review. 5 Magna did not 

petition for review of the ID's adverse findings for the '840 patent. TRW's petition was a 

contingent petition, which addressed both the '840 and '659 patents. On May 19, 2015, the 

patiies, including OUII, filed responses to the respective petitions for review.6 On May 28, 

2015, Magna filed a conected response that removed one sentence citing to evidence that was 

not admitted into the record. 7 

On July 31, 2015, the Commission determined to review the ID in-part. The Commission 

determined to review (1) importation; (2) whether the assetied claims of the '659 patent require a 

4 Notice of Commission Detetmination Not to Review an Initial Determination Granting an 
Unopposed Motion to Terminate the Investigation with Respect to Claims 37 and 80 of U.S. 
Patent No. 8,692,659 (Dec. 8, 2014). 

5 Petition ofMagna Electronics Inc. For Review-In-Part Of The Final Initial Detetmination 
("Magna Pet."); Respondent TRW Automotive U.S. LLC's Contingent Petition for Review 
("TRW Pet."). 

6 Magna Electronics Inc.'s Response to TRW Automotive U.S. LLC's Contingent Petition for 
Review; Respondent's Response in Opposition to Complainant's Petition for Review-In-Part of 
the Final Initial Determination ("TRW Pet. Reply"); Combined Response of the Office of Unfair 
Impmi Investigations to Complainant Magna Electronics, Inc. and Respondent TRW Automotive 
U.S. LLC's Petitions for Review of Final Initial Determination ("OUII Pet. Reply"). 

7 Magna Electronics Inc.'s Response to TRW Automotive U.S. LLC's Contingent Petition for 
Review ("Magna Pet. Reply"). 
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camera; (3) direct infringement of the '659 patent; (4) induced infringement of the '659 and '840 

patents; (5) contributory infringement of the '659 and '840 patents; (6) whether the '659 patent 

satisfies the requirements of35 U.S.C. §112; (7) anticipation ofthe '659 patent claims based on 

Rayner; (8) anticipation of the '659 patent claims based on Batavia; (9) anticipation of the '659 

patent claims based on the SafeTrac Prototype; (10) obviousness of the '659 patent based on 

· Rayner in combination with Blank; (11) obviousness of the '659 patent based on Batavia, the 

SafeTrac Prototype, and the Navlab 1997 Demo; (12) whether the claims are invalid under the 

America Invents Act§ 33 (a); and (13) the technical prong of domestic industry for the '659 and 

'840 patents. 80 Fed. Reg. 46998-47000 (Aug. 6, 2015). The Commission sought briefing on 

ten questions conceming the issues under review, and on remedy, bonding, and the public 

interest. !d. 

On August 17, 2015, the parties filed their responses to the Commission's notice of 

review. 8 On August 27, 2015, the parties filed their reply submissions.9 

8 Complainant Magna Electronics Inc.'s Response to the Commission's Request for Written 
Submissions on the Issues Under Review and on Remedy, the Public Interest, and Bonding 
("Magna Br."); Respondent's Brief On Review ("TRW Br."); Office ofUnfair Impmi 
Investigations' Response to the Notice of the Commission's Determination to Review In-Pmi a 
Final Initial Dete1mination Finding No Violation of Section 337; Request for Written 
Submissions: Extension of the Target Date ("OUII Br."). 

9 Complainant Magna Electronics Inc.'s Reply to OUII's and Respondent TRW Automotive U.S. 
LLC's Responses to the Commission's Request for Written Submissions ("Magna Reply Br."); 
Respondent's Response Brief On Review ("TRW Reply Br."); Office of Unfair Impmi 
Investigations' Reply To Complainant's and Respondent's Responses to the Commission's 
Determination to Review In-Pmi a Final Initial Determination Finding No Violation of Section 
337; Request for Written Submissions: Extension ofthe Target Date (''OUII Reply Br."). 

On September 4, 2015, TRW filed a document titled "Respondent's Shmi Submission Out of 
Time Regarding Complainant Admission on Commission Topic 2." On September 8, 2015, 
Magna filed "Complainant Magna Electronics Inc.'s Opposition to TRW Automotive U.S. 
LLC's Shmi Submission Out of Time Regarding Complainant Admissions on Commission 
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B. Overview Of The Patents At Issue 

1. Overview of the '659 Patent 

The '659 patent is entitled "Accessory Mounting System for Vehicle" and issued on 

April 8, 2014. JX-003. It relates to an accessory mounting system for a vehicle including an 

attachment element attached at an in-cabin surface of a vehicle windshield. JX-003 at abstract. 

. Magna asserted claims 3 and 92. Claim 3 depends on claim 1 while claim 92 depends on claim 

91, which depends on claim 90. These claims are reproduced below, with the terms related to 

the forward facing camera in bold: 

1. An accessory mounting system for a vehicle, said accessory mounting system 
compnsmg: 

an attachment element adhesively attached at an in-cabin surface of a vehicle 
windshield of a vehicle equipped with said accessory mounting system; 

said attachment element comprising a mirror mounting button; 

a plurality of attachment members adhesively attached at the in-cabin surface 
of the vehicle windshield local to said attachment element; 

an interior rearview mirror assembly comprising a mirror head and a mirror 
suppmi; 

wherein said mirror head comprises a minor reflective element and a mirror 
casmg; 

wherein said mirror suppmi comprises a mirror. mount that is configured to 
mount said interior rem·view minor assembly to said mirror mounting button of 
said attachment element; 

a structure configured for mounting to said plurality of attachment members 
attached at the in-cabin surface of the vehicle windshield; 

Topic 2." The Commission does not accept these late filings, and as such they are not pati of the 
administrative record of this investigation. 19 C.F.R. § 210.38(a). 
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said structure configured to receive and be suppmied by said plurality of 
attachment members that are adhesively attached at the in-cabin surface of the 
vehicle windshield; 

wherein said structure is configured to accommodate a forward facing 
camera; and 

wherein, with said structure received by and suppmied by said attaclm1ent 
members and when said structure is accommodating said forward facing 
camera, said forward facing camera has a field of view through the vehicle 
windshield. 

3. The accessory mounting system of claim 1, wherein said forward facing 
camera comprises a CMOS imaging device. 

90. An accessory mounting system for a vehicle, said accessory mounting system 
compnsmg: 

an attachment element adhesively attached at an in-cabin surface of a vehicle 
windshield of a vehicle equipped with said accessory mounting system; 

said attachment element comprising a mirror mounting button; 

a plurality of attachment members adhesively attached at the in-cabin surface 
of the vehicle windshield local to said attachment element; 

an interior rem·view mirror assembly comprising a minor head and a mirror 
support; 

wherein said minor head comprises a 1nirror reflective element and a mirror 
casmg; 

wherein said minor support comprises a minor mount that is configured to 
mount said interior rem·view minor assembly to said mirror mounting button of 
said attachment element; 

a structure configured for mounting to said plurality of attachment members 
attached at the in-cabin surface of the vehicle windshield; 

said structure configured to receive and be suppmied by said plurality of 
attachment members that are adhesively attached at the in-cabin surface of the 
vehicle windshield; 

wherein said structure is configured to accommodate a forward facing 
camera; 
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wherein, with said structure received by and supported by said attachment 
members and when said structure is accommodating said forward facing 
camera, said forward facing camera has a field of view through the vehicle 
windshield; 

wherein said forward facing camera comprises a CMOS imaging device; 

wherein said interior rem·view minor assembly comprise a double-ball interior 
rem·view mirror assembly; and 

wherein, with said structure received by and suppmied by said attachment 
members, said mirror mount can be mounted to said minor mounting button of 
said attachment element and can be demounted from said minor mounting 
button of said attachment element without demounting said structure from said 
attachment members. 

91. The accessory mounting system of claim 90, wherein a light absorbing layer 
disposed at the vehicle windshield at least partially masks the presence of said 
attachment element from view by a viewer who is viewing from outside the 
equipped vehicle through the vehicle windshield. 

92. The accessory mounting system of claim 91, wherein said light absorbing 
layer disposed at the vehicle windshield further at least patiially masks the 
presence of said structure from view by a viewer who is viewing from outside the 
equipped vehicle through the vehicle windshield. 

'659 patent at 44:31-62, 45:6-7, 54:61-56:8. 

2. Overview of the '840 Patent 

The '840 patent is entitled "Accessory System for a Vehicle" and issued onApril1, 2014. 

JX-001. The '840 patent relates to an accessory system for a vehicle including an accessory 

disposed at and behind a windshield of the vehicle and a control having digital circuitry and a 

microcontroller. Id. at abstract. Magna asserted claims 30 and 36. The Commission determined 

not to review the ALI's invalidity findings and therefore, found that no violation of section 337 

has occurred. 80 Fed. Reg. 46998-47000 (Aug. 6, 2015); see ID at 137-151. 

9 



C. Products At Issue 

While TRW manufactures mounting systems and cameras (i.e., the S-Cam), Magna only 

accuses TRW's S-Cam products of indirectly infringing the asserted patents and admits that the 

TRW mounting systems are non-infringing. ID at 13; Tr. 79:13-17; 49:16-50:13. The accused 

TRW S-Cam10 imaging systems include the S-Cam 2 and the S-Cam 3 and S-Cam 3.5 

· products. 11 !d. at 13. The ID noted that the S-Cam 2 is manufactured in Illinois, using impmied 

Mobileye EyeQ2 image processor components. Id. 

Magna manufactures forward facing camera modules ("FCM") and it relies on its FCM 

to satisfy the domestic industry requirement. 

III. NOTICE OF INVESTIGATION 

The final ID includes an amendment to the Notice oflnvestigation, which the 

Commission determined not to review. 80 Fed. Reg. 46998-47000 (Aug. 6, 2015). The ID 

found that "the scope of the investigation should be amended to include these larger systems that 

incorporate the cameras, i.e., 'Products Containing the Same.'" Id. at 8 (emphasis original). 

The Commission interpreted the ID's statements as merely modifying the scope of the 

investigation to be commensurate with the scope of the pleadings and not as adding additional 

products to the scope of the investigation. 

10 The ID stated "the parties treat the S-Cam and S-Cam 2 as functional equivalents, the ALJ 
does as well in his technical analysis through this Initial Determination." !d. at 13 n.3. The 
Commission also adopts this convention. 

11 The Commission collectively refers to the S-Cam 3 and S-Cam 3.5 as "S-Cam 3/3.5." 
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IV. IMPORTATION 

A. The ID 

The ID found that the section 337 impmiation requirement was satisfied. ID at 14. The 

ID determined that TRW impmis components (Mobileye EyeQ2 image processors) of the 

accused vision-based driver assistance system cameras into the United States for use in its S-

. Cam 2 vision-based driver assistance system cameras. Id. at 14-15. The ID fmiher found that 

"TRW sells its S-Cam 2 with the EyeQ2 image processor to GM [("General Motors")] for 

impmiation into the U.S. as GM, with guidance and assistance from TRW, installs the S-Cam 2 

into its vehicles in Mexico, which are then impmied into the United States." Id. at 15. TRW 

petitioned for review of the issue of importation. The Commission determined to review the 

ID' s findings on importation. 

B. Analysis 

The Commission takes no position on whether the importation requirement is met for the 

'840 patent because the '840 patent is invalid. With respect to the '659 patent, the Commission 

finds that the impmiation requirement is not met. Magna argues that there are several relevant 

impmiations which include (1) sale to GM of the S-Cam 2; (2) importation of the Mobileye Q2 

chips for use in the S-Cam 2; and (3) the importation of the vehicle having the S-Cam 2 installed. 

Magna Br. at 8-9. Section 337(a)(1)(B)(i) requires "the impmiation into the United States, the 

sale for importation, or the sale within the United States after impmiation by the owner, 

importer, or consignee, of miicles that - (i) infringe a valid and enforceable United States 

patent .... " 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(1)(B)(i). 

Magna has not shown that TRW, which is the only named respondent in this 

investigation, is involved in the importation of the GM vehicles as the owner, importer, or 
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consignee. Magna Post-Hearing Br. at 7-8; Magna Br. at 8-9. Nor has Magna established that 

the importation of the vehicle by GM meets the statutory impmiation requirement. I d. 

Magna has not established that TRW's sale of the S-Cam 2 to GM is a sale for 

impmiation of an miicle that infringes a valid and enforceable United States patent. As 

discussed below in more detail, TRW's S-Cam 2 does not infringe the '659 patent either directly 

· or indirectly. Similarly, Magna has not shown that TRW's impmiation of a non-infringing 

component of the S-Cam 2, namely the Mobileye chip, satisfies the statutory requirements of 

section 337(a)(1)(B)(i). 

V. CONSTRUCTION OF THE ASSERTED CLAIMS OF THE '659 PATENT: 
WHETHER THE CLAIMS REQUIRE A CAMERA 

The only claim construction dispute centers on whether the asse1ied claims of the '659 

patent require a camera. Although the ID did not make an explicit finding that a camera is a 

limitation of the claims of the '659 patent, the ID's infringement analysis reflects the implicit 

finding that a camera is required by the assmied claims. See, e.g., ID at 63-82. The 

Commission, having considered the pmiies' arguments, intrinsic evidence, and other evidence in 

the administrative record, finds that the asse1ied claims do not require a camera. 

The claims at issue here are generally related to an "accessory mounting system." JX-

003 at abstract. This preamble language provides guidance that the focus of the claims is not on 

the camera but on an accessory mounting system. Claims 1 and 90 do not explicitly recite a 

camera as a component of the invention but rather claim a structure that is "configured to 

accommodate a forward facing camera." JX-003 at 44:56-57, 55:19-20. The focus of the '659 

patent specification is similarly on an "accessory mounting system" and does not describe a 

camera as pmi of the invention. See JX-003 at 3:30-4:26. To a skilled miisan reading the claims 

in light of the specification, these claims are understood to be directed to a structure mounted 

12 



upon a vehicle windshield that is capable of accommodating cetiain accessories. RX-208 at QQ. 

69-71. The embodiments described in the specification focus primarily on a tire gauge 

accessory, not a camera. See e.g., JX-003 at 2:37-44. The Federal Circuit, the Commission, and 

district couti precedents support finding that the claim language "configured to" and 

"wherein ... when" appearing in conjunction with the term camera in the assetied claims limit 

· these claim limitations to the primary recited mounting structure and do not extend to the 

secondary structure for which the recited feature is configured. 

Federal Circuit precedent is clear that when a first structure is "capable of' or 

"configured to" interact with a second component, the claim may be infringed even in the 

absence of the second component. In Revolution Eyewear, the claim term at issue was "said first 

magnetic members capable of engaging second magnetic members of an auxiliary spectacle 

frame so that lenses of an auxiliary spectacle frame are located in front of said primary lenses." 

Revolution Eyewear, Inc. v. Aspex Eyewear, Inc., 563 F.3d 1358, 1363 (Fed. Cir. 2009) 

(emphasis added). The Court determined that the primary lens satisfied the claim element and 

the auxiliary frames were not an infringing element. Id. at 70. In. addition, the Court has found 

that the phrase "when" does not render the latter elements infringing components of the phrase 

and should be treated as "capable of." Intel Corp. v. US. Int'l Trade Comm 'n, 946 F.2d 821, 832 

(Fed. Cir. 1991) (The Comi found that "[b]ecause the language of claim 1 refers to 

'programmable selection means' and states 'whereby when said altemate addressing mode is 

selected' [],the accused device, to be infringing, need only be capable of operating in the page 

mode.") (emphasis original). 

District court decisions also suppoti this position. In Flexhead Indus., Inc. v. Easyjlex, 

Inc., the court construed "configured to receive the fire protection sprinkler head" such that 
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"[t]he invention must be set up in a patiicular manner to receive sprinkler heads, but this does not 

mean that it must actually receive the sprinkler head." No. CIV. 06-11897-DPW and 06-11898-

DPW, 2008 WL 4813797, at *7 (D. Mass. Nov. 3, 2008) (emphasis added). In Hypertherm, Inc. 

v. Am. Torch Tip Co., the district comi found that the "wherein" clause did not turn a claim for 

an electrode into a combination claim for an electrode and coolant tube. No. CIV. 05-CV-373-

JD, 2008 WL 268589, *4 (D.N.H. Jan. 29, 2008) (The language at issue was "adapted to mate" 

which is similar to "configured to accommodate."). The claim in Hypertherm required a Pati A 

adapted to mate with Pati B and the comi determined that the claim was directed to Part A alone 

and not the combination. !d. 

The Commission's dete1mination in Certain Recordable Compact Discs and Re-vvritable 

Compact Discs, found that "configured to" language limits the claim to the primary recited 

feature and does not include the secondary feature. Inv. No. 337-TA-474, USITC Pub. No. 

3686, Initial Determination at 12-13, 19,44-46,48, rev'd on other grounds, 616 F.3d 1318 (Aug. 

30, 2010) ("Compact Discs"). In Compact Discs, the atiicle at issue was a physical CD where 

the claims described the CD as having a "follow-on track" with "said follow-on track being 

configured to diffract radiation incident thereon when scanned with a spot of radiation .... " The 

ID found that a track is covered by the claims without the track a<;tually diffracting a beam of 

radiation. !d. 

Magna and OUII argue that the dependent claims suppmi finding that the camera is a 

limitation. See e.g., Magna Br. at 11-18; OUII Br. at 7-8, 10-11. Asserted dependent claim 3 

requires a CMOS imager. 12 Considering claim 3 in conjunction with claim 1, in the context of 

the invention described in the specification, the issue is whether a person of ordinary skill in the 

12 Independent claim 90 also requires a CMOS imager. 
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ati would understand the claimed mounting structure to require a camera. There is expert 

testimony from both sides regarding whether claim 3 leads to the conclusion that a camera is or 

is not a limitation of claim 1. Dr. Kazerooni, TRW's expeti, testified "claim 3 which Magna 

points to merely describes that the camera for which the mounting system is configured to 

accommodate." RX-370C at Q. 99. Dr. Kazerooni further testified that, contrary to Magna's 

· assetiion, claim 3 is not rendered superfluous by construing the claim to exclude a camera. 

Specifically, Dr. Kazerooni testified that claim 3 should be interpreted to mean "the mounting 

system would have the limitation that it has some attribute which renders it specially configured 

to accommodate a CMOS device." !d. at Q. 100; see also Tr. 577:11-16. Dr. Lynam, a Magna 

engineer and inventor ofthe '659 patent, testified that Magna used CMOS cameras because they 

were smaller than the other available options. CX-001C at Q. 108 ("To fit into a min·or, a video 

camera would need to be tiny" and how his co-inventor, Mr. Schofield, found "a CMOS camera 

chip no bigger than one's little fingernail"), Q. 234 (how in the mid '90s he worked on mounting 

such "tiny CMOS cameras" into systems) (emphasis added). This testimony shows that the 

difference in size of a CMOS imager and other imagers may impact the structure ofthe camera, 

which in turn would place additional restrictions on the structure configured to accommodate the 

camera. 

Similarly, other dependent claims define the structure of the housing that accommodates 

the camera. For example, claim 17 defines the housing when it claims "a housing that at least 

substantially hides the presence of said forward facing camera from view by a person viewing 

from inside the vehicle cabin." JX-003 at 46:20-23. This claim characterizes the housing as it 

relates to the camera it is configured to accommodate. Tr. at 575:8-576:7. 

15 



Claim 25 recites "wherein said forward facing camera comprises a CMOS imaging 

device and wherein said forward facing camera comprises a component of at least one of' four 

different vehicle systems. JX-003 at 46:49-56. This language identifies four possible systems in 

which a camera may be included but does not add the camera as a limitation to independent 

claim 1 and instead further limits the structure of claim 1. 

In contrast to the language of the asselied claims of the '659 patent, other related patents 

explicitly recite a camera as a claim limitation. The '840 patent and U.S Patent No. 7,460,007, 

which are related to the '659 patent, each claim an accessory system. The claims from each of 

these patents, however, explicitly require a camera. RX-100; JX-001. Thus, the inventors knew 

how to claim a camera and expressly did so in other related applications, but did not use such 

language in the asserted claims of the '659 patent. Moreover, were the Commission to adopt 

Magna's and OUII's contention that the claims require a camera, the inclusion of that limitation 

would substantially read out the "configured to" and "when" limitations. Therefore, the 

Commission finds that a camera is not a limitation of the asserted claims of the '659 patent. 

VI. INFRINGEMENT 

A. '659 Patent 

1. Direct Infringement 

Magna accused TRW's S-Cam 2, S-Cam 3 and S-Cam 3.5 of indirect infringement of 

dependent claims 3 and 92 of the '659 patent. ID at 63. Specifically, Magna alleges that 

imported vehicles equipped with the S-Cam 2 (e.g., the Chevrolet Silverado and GMC Sierra 

pickup trucks)directly infringe claims 3 and 92 of the '659 patent. Id. Magna assetis that TRW 

contributes to GM's alleged direct infringement by providing the S-Cam 2 to GM and that TRW 

induces GM' s infringement by continuing to assist GM in the design, development, and 
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installation of the S-Cam 2 in GM's vehicles, which TRW allegedly lmows directly infringes the 

asse1ied claims. !d. 

(a) The ID 

The ID analyzed each of the limitations of the asserted claims, and the claims they 

depend from, and found that the mounting structure containing the S-Cam 2 mounted on the 

· vehicle windshield of certain GM vehicles, such as a Silverado, infringes the asserted claims. 

See id. at 63-82. The Commission dete1mined to review the ID's findings. 

(b) Analysis 

TRW argues that the ALJ erred in finding that the attachment members and the 

attachment elements used in the Chevrolet Silverado are adhesively attached. TRW argues that 

the ID improperly based its findings on "adhesively attached" on demonstrative exhibits and 

testimony relating to those exhibits, and also improperly relied on physical exhibits. In arguing 

that the ID improperly relied on demonstratives to suppmi its infringement findings, TRW cites 

to no finding in the ID or any case law holding that an ID cannot rely on testimony describing 

demonstrative exhibits. The Commission finds that the ID's findings were suppmied by witness 

testimony and did not improperly rely on demonstrative exhibits. 

We first con·ect citations to certain party exhibits cited in the ID. The parties agree that 

physical exhibits CPX-0032 and CPX-0045 were not admitted into evidence and were instead 

converted into demonstrative exhibits. See e.g., Magna Br. at 50; TRW Br. at 17. CPX-0032 

was conve1ied to CDX-0077 and CPX-0045 was converted to CDX-0088. !d. As these citations 

appear to be inadvertent eiTors in the ID, the Commission modifies the ID's citations to replace 

CPX-0032 with CDX-0077 on pages 48, 79, 80 and 82 of the ID. The Commission removes the 

citations to CPX-0032 on page 68. The ID's citation to CX-003C (Min witness stmt.) QQ. 286-
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87 referencing CPX-0032 is modified to remove the reference to CPX-0032 and instead include 

a reference to CDX-0012.24-25C. The Commission also modifies the citations on pages 48, 74, 

and 80 that refer to non-admitted exhibit CPX-0045 to instead include CDX-0088. 

Dr. Min testified that the attachment members are glued on the windshield in the 

Silverado. CX-003C at QQ. 286-87; ID at 68. Dr. Lynam also testified that the attachment 

· members are glued on the Silverado. CX-OOlC at Q. 125, 155-56. The Commission finds that 

this testimony is substantial evidence that the attachment members are adhesively attached. 

We observe that the ID also relied in pati on testimony regarding a non-infringing, non

accused product to find that the attachment elements of the accused products are adhesively 

attached. In patiicular, the ID found "that the record shows [that] the windshield supplier 

attaches the bracket to the windshield using an adhesive." ID at 65 (citing CX-0162C (Whydell 

dep. tr.) at 116:21-117:1), see also ID at 66. The Commission does not rely on Dr. Whydell's 

testimony, CX-0162C (Whydell dep. tr.), cited on pages 65-66 of the ID. The Commission 

instead finds substantial evidence that the attachment element is adhesively attached based on the 

testimony of Dr. Min and Dr. Lynam. 

The Commission finds, as discussed above, that a camera is not a limitation of the claims. 

The ID's analysis in finding direct infringement repeatedly states.that various claim limitations 

were met based on the S-Cam 2 or the "Chevrolet Silverado equipped with the S-cam." See e.g., 

ID at 65. Because the Commission finds that the camera is not a limitation, the Commission 

finds that the Silverado equipped with an accessory mounting system that is configured to hold 

the S-Cam 2 meets the limitations of the asserted claims without requiring the actual installation 

of the S-Cam 2. For example, the "wherein said forward facing camera comprises a CMOS 

imaging device" limitation of claims 3 and 90 is met by the bracket installed in the Chevrolet 
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Silverado. The installed bracket has a structure that is configured to receive the S-Cam 2 CMOS 

camera. See e.g., ID at 75. The Commission adopts the ID's findings that are consistent with 

this finding and the other findings in this opinion. 

Last, the Commission finds that Magna has not met its burden to prove direct 

infringement by the GM mounting system configured to receive the S-Cam 3/3.5 products. 

·Although Magna asserts that TRW's S-Cam 3 and S-Cam 3.5 camera and mounting system 

infringe the asserted claims, the parties acknowledge that the S-Cam 3/3.5 camera and mounting 

system were in development at the time of hearing. Magna Post-Hearing Br. at 6; TRW Pet. 

Reply at 22; TRW Post-Hearing Br. at 13. Fmihermore, Magna only cursorily attempted to 

prove direct infringement and never asse1ied, before the ALJ, that the S-Cam 2 camera and 

bracket was representative of the S-Cam 3 and 3.5 camera and brackets. Magna Post-Hearing 

Br. at 6, 54-65. In addition, hearing testimony establishes that there are differences between the 

S-Cam 2 and the S-Cam 3/3.5 mounting bracket. Tr. 339:6-13, 341:7-11. 

Magna did not provide an element-by-element analysis of direct infringement based on a 

mounting structure configured to accommodate the S-Cam 3 or 3.5. Magna Post-Hearing Br. at 

54-65. Magna did not introduce the GM bracket for the S-Cam 3/3.5 or any materials describing 

their structure into evidence other than stating that the difference~ relate to size of the S-Cam 

3/3.5 the bracket is configured to accommodate and the mounting system for the S-Cam 2 and S

Cam 3.5 would be similar. Magna Post-Hearing Br. at 6-7, 54-65. Magna argues that in light of 

the Federal Circuit's recent decision in Suprema, Inc. v. Int'l Trade Comm., 796 F.3d 1338 (Fed. 

Cir. 2015) (en bane), direct infringement need not have occml'ed. However, Suprema does not 

excuse Magna from proving direct infringement but instead allows the act of direct infringement 

to occur after impmiation. See Suprema, 796 F.3d at 1348. While Magna asse1is that TRW had 

19 



offered the S-Cam 3 for sale and that it would be going into GM vehicles, Magna is not excused 

from meeting its burden to prove all the limitations of the asserted claims are met with respect to 

each accused article. Magna admits that there is no evidence of an installation of the S-Cam 

3/3.5 in an infringing mounting structure. Magna Br. at 48. Therefore, the Commission finds 

that Magna has not met its burden to prove direct infringement for a mounting structure 

· configured to accommodate the S-Cam 3/3.5 products.13 

2. Contributory Infringement 

(a) The ID 

The ID found that Magna did not prove by a preponderance of the evidence that TRW is 

liable for contributory infringement of the asserted claims of the '659 patent. ID at 87. The ID 

found that although TRW had notice of the '659 patent inApril2014 when Magna provided 

TRW with notice and a copy of the issued '659 patent, TRW did not immediately have 

knowledge of infringement because TRW had a good faith belief of invalidity based on an 

opinion of counsel. Id. at 87-88. The ID further found that "[a]lthough the record shows that the 

S-Cam supplied by TRW to GM for use in the Chevrolet Silverad~ is not a staple article or 

commodity of commerce suitable for substantial non-infringing use and the S-Cam itself and its 

[[ 

]] these facts do not prove that TRW had the requisite knowledge of 

infringement." !d. at 88. Therefore, the ID found that TRW is not liable for contributory 

infringement. !d. 

13 The Commission does not address indirect infringement with respect to the S-Cam 3/3.5 
because it finds there is no direct infringement. 
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The ALJ did not directly address whether or not the camera is a material pmi of the 

invention in his analysis of contributory infringement, but the camera was discussed in his 

analysis ofthe limitation that includes the "forward facing camera." See id. at 72-75. Magna 

and TRW both challenge cetiain of the ID's findings. The Commission determined to review the 

ID's finding. 

(b) Analysis 

In order to find that TRW contributorily infringes assetied claims 3 and 92, Magna must 

prove that (1) there is an act of direct infringement; (2) the component is a material pmi of the 

invention; (3) the accused contributory infringer knows its component is made or especially 

adapted for use in infringement of a patent; and ( 4) there are no substantial non-infringing uses 

for the accused component, i.e., the component is not a staple miicle of commerce. 35 U.S.C. 

§ 271(c). As we discussed above in §VI.A.1, the Commission finds that there is an act of direct 

infringement by the mounting systems in the GM vehicle configured to receive the S-Cam 2. 

We have considered the parties' submissions and the evidence and find that TRW does 

not contributorily infringe the '659 patent. The Commission does not adopt the ALI's findings 

that TRW did not contributory infringe the assetied claims based on a good faith belief of 

invalidity. See Commil USA, LLC v. Cisco Sys., Inc., 135 S.Ct. 1920, 1927-1930 (2015). Our 

finding of no contributory infringement is instead based on our finding that the camera is not a 

limitation of the asserted claims. See infi·a §V. Because a camera is not an element of the 

assetied claims, the S-Cam 2 cannot be a material component of the claimed invention as 

required by 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). Accordingly, the Commission finds that TRW does not 

contributorily infringe the assetied claims. 
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3. Induced Infringement 

(a) The ID 

The ID found that Magna failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that TRW is 

liable for induced infringement ofthe assetied claims of the '659 patent. ID at 96. Specifically, 

the ID found that any collaboration between TRW and GM with respect to the S-Cam 2 used in 

the subject GM vehicles occmTed before the issuance of the '659 patent. !d. In addition, the ID 

found that the collaboration [[ 

]] . !d. 

The ID also found for the same reasons set fmih above with respect to contributory 

infringement, that TRW did not have the requisite knowledge to prove induced infringement of 

the assetied claims ofthe '659 patent. !d. at 97. Accordingly, the ID found that TRW is not 

liable for induced infringement of the asserted claims of the '659 patent. !d. The Commission 

determined to review this finding. 

(b) Analysis 

Section 271 (b) of the Patent Act provides: "Whoever actively induces infringement of a 

patent shall be liable as an infringer." 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). Liability for inducing infringement 

attaches only if the defendant knew of the patent and that "the induced acts constitute patent 

infringement." Global-Tech Appliances, Inc. v. SEE S.A., 131 S. Ct. 2060, 2068 (2011). In DSU 

Medical Corp. v. JMS Co., Ltd., the Federal Circuit held that "inducement requires evidence of 

culpable conduct, directed to encouraging another's infringement, not merely that the inducer 

had knowledge of the direct infringer's activities." 471 F.3d 1293, 1306 (Fed. Cir. 2006) (en 

bane) (citing Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer Studios, Inc. v. Grokster, Ltd., 125 S.Ct. 2764, 2780, 

(2005); Manville Sales Corp. v. Paramount Systems, Inc., 917 F.2d 544, 553 (Fed. Cir. 1990). 
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Thus, as a prerequisite to establishing infringement under§ 271(b), complainant must show an 

affirmative act that encourages another's direct infringement. See DSU Med. Corp., 471 F.3d at 

1305 ("The mere knowledge of possible infringement by others does not amount to inducement; 

specific intent and action to induce infringement must be proven.") (quoting Warner-Lambert 

Co. v. Apotex Cmp., 316 F.3d 1348, 1364 (Fed.Cir.2003)) (emphasis added). In this 

· investigation, the alleged inducing acts asserted by Magna are (1) TRW's collaboration with GM 

involving the S-Cam 2; (2) TRW's collaboration with GM involving the S-Cam 3/3.5.; and (3) 

TRW's sales of its S-Cam 2 after the '659 patent issued. See e.g., Magna Post-Hearing Br. at 65-

66, 69-72; Magna Br. at 36-40. As explained below, the Commission finds that these asserted 

acts do not constitute acts of inducement forming a predicate to liability under§ 271(b). 

Therefore, the Commission finds that Magna has failed to establish that TRW is liable for 

induced patent infringement of the assetied claims of the '659 patent. 

First, the Commission finds that TRW's collaboration with GM involving the S-Cam 2 

does not constitute an inducing act. The ALJ found that any collaboration between TRW and 

GM with respect to the S-Cam 2 and [[ . ]] occmTed before April 8, 

2014, the issuance date of the '659 patent. ID at 96; see also Tr. 404-406. The exclusionary 

rights provided by a patent do not take effect until the patent issu~s. Consequently, conduct by 

an accused infringer before the date of issuance, including conduct alleged to later induce 

infringement, cannot, as a matter oflaw, constitute a culpable act of inducement. See Nat'! 

Presto Indus., Inc. v. West Bend Co., 76 F.3d 1185, 1196 (Fed.Cir.1996) ("[W]e hold that the 

general rule is that inducement of infringement under.§ 271(b) does not lie when the acts of 

inducement occurred before there existed a patent to be infringed."). Accordingly, TRW's work 
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with GM related to the S-Cam 2, which concluded prior to the issuance of the '659 patent, does 

not constitute an act of inducement. 

Second, the Commission finds that TRW's collaboration with GM occurring after the 

'659 patent issued does not constitute an inducing act. The only post-issuance inducing activities 

that Magna points to relate to [[ 

]] for which Magna has not proven direct infringement. See e.g., Magna 

Post-Hearing Br. at 65-66, 69-72. Without establishing direct infringement based on a mounting 

system that uses brackets configured to accommodate the S-Cam 3/3.5, the Commission finds 

that there can be no inducement liability based on post-patent activities related to the S-Cam 

3/3.5. 

Third, TRW's sales of the S-Cam 2 after the '659 patent issued is the remaining conduct 

asserted by Magna to induce infringement. Magna fails to present evidence that such sales of the 

S-cam 2 constituted inducing acts. For example, the limited knowledge that TRW gained about 

GM's mounting system by working with GM before the '659 patent issued does not, combined 

with TRW's sales, constitute active inducement. The record shows TRW [[ 

]] 

See e.g, CX-0351C; CX-0350C; CX-0349C; Tr. 255:22-256:7; 450:17-21; 454:9-455:15; TRW 

Pet. Reply at 31. Before the ALJ, Magna did not asseti that TRW had knowledge ofGM's 

overall design of its mounting system at any time, much less after issuance of the '659 patent. 

Indeed, it was GM that directed and controlled the design of its mounting system, including the 

bracket, that GM chose to use with the S-Cam- 2. See e.g., RX-0369C at QQ. 24-27, 50-61; RX-

0339C; RX-0368C at 16-17, 40-41; Tr. 450:17-21, 453:15-455:15; CX-174C at 34:6-11. In fact, 
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[[ 

]] RX-0368C at Q18; RX-0369C at QQ. 37, 42. Magna 

presented no evidence that TRW's sales to GM required GM to use GM's own bracket in its 

infringing mounting system-a system that GM could modify at any time for any reason without 

consultation or notice to TRW. See generally DSU Med. Cmp., 471 F.3d at 1305 ("The mere 

· knowledge of possible infringement by others does not amount to inducement; specific intent 

and action to induce infringement must be proven."). TRW's involvement [[ 

]] ceased before the patent issued. Tr. at 404-406. 

Moreover, with regard to the knowledge requirements for inducement, Magna's post-

hearing brief arguments are conclusory and lack citation to any facts that would support the 

contention that TRW had the requisite knowledge and intent to induce GM to infringe the '659 

patent. See Magna Post-Hearing Br. at 65, 67. Magna did not rely on its amended complaint and 

accompanying claim chart in its post-hearing brief but instead, only cited to evidence that TRW 

was given notice of the patent and Magna's intention to seek to amend the complaint. The 

Commission finds that notice of the patent is insufficient to prove. that TRW had knowledge of 

infringement. Commit, 135 S.Ct. at 1927-1930. The Commission also finds that Magna's 

arguments before the ALJ regarding TRW's knowledge of infringement are insufficient to meet 

its burden. 14 

14 Commissioner Schmidtlein does not join this paragraph because she takes no position on 
whether the Commission should reject consideration of Magna's argument regarding its 
amended complaint and accompanying claim chart on the basis that such argument was not 
raised before the ALJ. 
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Finally, the Commission does not adopt the ALJ's findings that TRW did not induce 

infringement of the asserted claims based on a good faith belief of invalidity. Commit, 135 S.Ct. 

at 1927-1930. 

For these reasons, the Commission finds that TRW did not induce infringement of the 

asse1ied claims ofthe'659 patent. 

B. '840 Patent 

The Commission determined to review the ID's findings on induced and contributory 

infringement. On review, the Commission takes no position on indirect infringement of the '840 

patent. 80 Fed. Reg. 46998-47000 (Aug. 6, 2015). 

VII. VALIDITY 

A. Invalidity Under 35 U.S.C. § 112 

The Commission takes no position on invalidity under 35 U.S.C. § 112. 

B. Anticipation 

1. Rayner 

The ID found that U.S. Patent No. 6,389,340 ("Rayner") does not anticipate the '659 

patent. The ID held that Rayner is prior ali to the '659 patent, but found that Rayner does not 

disclose "a plurality of attachment members adhesively attached at the in-cabin surface of the 

vehicle local to said attachment element" of claim 1 because the attachment members disclosed 

in Rayner are suction cups and thereby not adhesively attached. ID at 126-29. The ID found that 

the alternative way to mount the device of Rayner, such as "by means of a suitable adhesive" 

noted in the specification, would eliminate the plurality of attachment members disclosed in 

another embodiment of Rayner. 

The ID also found that Rayner does not disclose the "wherein said mirror support 

comprises a mirror mount that is configured to mount said interior reat·view mirror assembly to 
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said mirror mounting button of said attachment element" limitation of claim 1. I d. at 129. 

Specifically, the ID found that the mounting bracket in Rayner is part of the interior mirror 

assembly and not a separate component. Id. 

The ID also found that the following limitations are not met by Rayner: "a structure 

configured for mounting to said plurality of attachment members attached at the in-cabin surface 

· of the vehicle windshield; said structure configured to receive and be supported by said plurality 

of attachment members that are adhesively attached at the in-cabin surface of the vehicle 

windshield." Id. at 130. The ID determined that "Rayner discloses suction cups 88 and 90 

attached to device 84, but Rayner does not disclose a structure configured to receive and be 

supported by said plurality of attachment members that are adhesively attached." Id. Therefore, 

the ID found that Rayner does not disclose all of the limitations of claim 1 of the '659 patent. Id. 

The ID similarly found that dependent claim 3 is not anticipated by Rayner because not 

all of the limitations of claim 1 are met. Id. at 130-31. 

The Commission affirms the ALJ' s finding that Rayner does not disclose a "mirror 

support" that comprises "a mill'or mount that is configured to mount said interior rem·view mirror 

assembly to said mirror mounting button of said attachment element." The Commission does not 

adopt the other findings of the ALJ on anticipation by Rayner as discussed below in the section 

on obviousness. 
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2. Batavia15 and SafeTrac Prototype16 

The Commission takes no position on the ID's findings regarding anticipation by 

Batavia and anticipation by the Safe Trace Prototype. 

C. Obviousness 

1. Rayner in view of Blank17 

(a) The ID 

The ID found that TRW provided only cursory obviousness arguments that were 

interspersed within its Rayner anticipation argument. ID at 151. The ID found that these 

arguments were insufficient to meet its burden to prove obviousness. !d. As discussed above, 

the ID found that Rayner does not disclose "a plurality of attachment members adhesively 

attached at the in-cabin surface of the vehicle local to said attachment element;" "wherein said 

mirror support comprises a mirror mount that is configured to mount said interior rem·view 

mirror assembly to said mirror mounting button of said attachment element;" and "a structure 

configured for mounting to said plurality of attachment members attached at the in-cabin surface 

of the vehicle windshield; said structure configured to receive and be suppmied by said plurality 

of attachment members that are adhesively attached at the in-cabin surface of the vehicle 

windshield." !d. at 127-30. 

The ID further found that, "as shown in Fig. 3B in Blank, the interior rem·view minor 

assembly 40 is mounted together with an infmmational display 26 by a shared structure, coupler 

15 The Batavia paper is titled "Driver-Adaptive Lane Depmiure Warning Systems" by the Parag 
Batavia and is dated September 20, 1999. RX-0011 ("Batavia"). 

16 RX-0012. 

17 U.S. Patent No. 5,576,687 ("Blank"). RX-0007. 
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body 80, mounted to a minor mounting button 70." I d. at 151 (citing RX-0007 (Blank) at 6:36-

38, Figs. 3B, 5; see CX-0437 (Min reb. witness stmt.) at Q. 73). Therefore, the ID found that 

Blank does not supply the crucial element missing from Rayner: a plurality of attachment 

members adhesively attached to the windshield and separate from the attachment element (the 

mirror mounting button) used to mount the rem·view mirror assembly. Id. 

(b) Analysis 

The Commission finds that Rayner in combination with Blank render claims 1 and 3 

obvious but that TRW did not meet its burden to prove claim 90 obvious based on the 

combination of Rayner and Blank. 

Rayner was filed on September 24, 1999 and the priority date of the '659 patent that 

Magna is asserting is November 10, 2000. See RX-0014; Tr. at 42:7-10. Accordingly, the 

Commission finds that Rayner is 102(e) prior mi to the '659 patent. Blank is admitted prior art 

to the '659 patent as it is incorporated by reference in the '659 patent specification. JX-003 at 

30:53-56; 31:23-27. 

(i) Claim 1: An accessory mo~nting system for a vehicle, 
said accessory mounting system comprising: 

The Commission finds that Rayner meets this limitation. Rayner relates to "a self-

contained vehicle-mounted trigger device for capturing video imagery in response to a triggering 

event." RX-0014 at 2:13-15. It discloses that the "device is mounted in the vehicle cabin [in] a 

manner that provides a clear field-of-view for the image sensor." Id. at 2:41-42. The camera of 

Rayner can be mounted to the windshield using a mounting system. See id. at Fig. 2 
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(ii) Claim 1: an attachment element adhesively attached at 
an in-cabin surface of a vehicle windshield of a vehicle 
equipped with said accessory mounting system; said 
attachment element comprising a mirror mounting 
button; 

The Commission finds that this limitation is met by the state of the art at the priority date 

as shown in Blank and corroborated by Dr. Kazerooni. RX-0208 at Q.l30; RX-007 at Figs. 4A, 

· 5, 6:10-35. While Magna argues that there is no motivation to combine Blank with Rayner 

because it is an interior rearview mirror assembly which is mounted with an information display 

by a shared structure, the Commission finds otherwise. See e.g., Magna Post-Hearing Br. at 82. 

The Commission finds that there is motivation to combine the teaching of Blank with Rayner 

because Rayner repeatedly mentions a conventional mirror and Blank discloses a conventional 

minor. Dr. Kazerooni explained that Blank discloses the "conventional rem·view minor" 

disclosed in Rayner. RX-208 at Q.l32; see also id. at 135-137. In addition, Blank discloses the 

same type of mirror as other mirrors disclosed in the '659 patent. See, e.g., Tr. at 678:1-25 (Dr. 

Min stating that Figure 24 of the '659 structure is the same type of mirror as Blank with one 

attachment element and comprising a display). 

Further, having a display mounted with the minor does not make Blank incompatible 

with the '659 invention. Almost every embodiment disclosed in the '659 patent includes 

a mirror assembly mounted together vFith a display. In fact, the only embodiment that discloses 

the use with a forward facing camera contains a mirror assembly and display mounted together 

on a single button. See JX-003 at Fig. 24A, 36:54-55 (the one and only mention of the accessory 

system including a forward facing camera is as pmi of the accessory module of Figure 24A). Dr. 

Min confirmed this. See Tr. at 678:1-25. In addition, the '659 patent discloses the use of an 
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after-market conventional mirror so it was known in the mi and easy to interchange various 

minors. JX-003 at 23:63-66. 

The Commission finds that the conventional mirror of Rayner can be exchanged with a 

minor as described in Blank. Blank teaches that button 70 is adhered to the windshield by a 

suitable adhesive. RX-0208 at Q. 130; RX-007 at Figs. 4A & 5, 6:10-35. Accordingly, the 

· Commission finds that this limitation is met by the conventional mirror of Blank and the 

accessory mounting system of Rayner. 

(iii) Claim 1: a plurality of attachment members adhesively 
attached at the in-cabin surface of the vehicle local to 
said attachment element; 

Rayner discloses a plurality of attachment members attached at the in-cabin surface of the 

vehicle windshield local to said attachment element as illustrated in Figure 2. RX-0014 at Fig. 2, 

7: 1-13. Rayner also discloses mounting device 84 mounted to the windshield by suction cups 88 

and 90. !d. at 7:6-8. Immediately following this disclosure, Rayner states, "in still other 

embodiments, it can be mounted to windshield 14 by means of a suitable adhesive, double sided 

adhesive tape, or Velcro type hook and pile fasteners." !d. at 7:8-,11. Dr. Kazerooni, one of 

ordinary skill in the art, testified that in order to mount the device 84 by a suitable adhesive or 

double sided tape, the only place to put such "suitable adhesive" or "double sided tape" would be 

on the attachment members 88 and 90 or on the mounts sticking out from them. RX-208 at 

Q.115. Based on Figure 2, it would not be possible to attach the adhesive directly to the housing 

and the windshield because the camera lens sticks out. !d. In addition, Dr. Min testified that in 

2000, prior to the invention of the '659 patent, the only way he would think of to mount 

"attachment members" was by glue. Tr. at 730:8-14. 
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The Commission finds that mounting a camera "local to" the mirror was "well known" 

prior to the invention of the '659 patent. Tr. at 46:3-9; see also Tr. at 688:18-689:9. 

Accordingly, the Commission finds that this limitation is met by Rayner and the knowledge of 

one skilled in the art. 

(iv) Claim 1: an interior rearview mirror assembly 
comprising a mirror head and a mirror support; 
wherein said mirror head comprises a mirror reflective 
element and a mirror casing; 

The Commission finds that the minor head and mirror support are admitted prior art 

within the '659 patent and specifically shown in Blank. RX-208 at Q.l27-128; RX-0007 at Fig. 

3B, 6:6-41. Additionally, Blank discloses a mirror reflective element and mirror casing. RX-007 

at 5:54-55 ("glass element 43 is coated with a reflective layer 57"); 6:10-11 (Blank describes 

element 50 as "case or frame"). Figure 3B of Blank shows the (1) mirror support that includes 

support arm 42, along with various other pmis show in purple in CDX-001-003 at 18, (2) minor 

head 40, (3) mirror casing 50, and (4) glass element 43 which is covered in a reflective coating. 

RX-007 at Fig. 3B, 5:54-55, 6:6-41. Accordingly, the Commission finds that Blank discloses 

this limitation. 

(v) Claim 1: wherein said mirror support comprises a 
mirror mount that is configured to mount said interior 
rearview mirror assembly to said mirror mounting 
button of said attachment element; 

The Commission finds that Blank discloses said mirror suppmi that comprises a mirror 

mount that is configured to mount said interior rem·view mirror assembly to said minor mounting 

button of said attachment element. RX-208 at Q. 129; RX-007 at Figs. 4A, 5. Specifically, 

Figures 4A and 5 of Blank show these features. 
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(vi) Claim 1: a structure configured for mounting to said 
plurality of attachment members attached at the in
cabin surface of the vehicle windshield; said structure 
configured to receive and be supported by said plurality 
of attachment members that are adhesively attached at 
the in-cabin surface of the vehicle windshield; 

The Commission finds that Rayner discloses a structure configured for mounting to said 

plurality of attachment members attached at the in-cabin surface of the vehicle windshield. RX-

0208 at Q. 120; RX-0014 at Fig. 2, 7:1-12. Similarly, Rayner discloses that the structure is 

configured to receive and be supported by said plurality of attachment members that are 

adhesively attached at the in-cabin surface of the vehicle windshield. RX-0208 at Q. 120; RX-

0014 at Fig. 2, 7:1-12. 

Specifically, device 84 is configured to receive and be supported by the members as 

shown in Figure 2. The device is configured to receive the members 88 and 90 by receiving 

them at the point that they attach. Rayner discloses attaching the members to the windshield 14. 

RX-0014 at 7:1-12; Figs. 1, 2. 

(vii) Claim 1: wherein said structure is configured to 
accommodate a forward f~cing camera; and wherein, 
with said structure received by and supported by said 
attachment members and when said structure is 
accommodating said forward facing camera, said 
forward facing camera has a field of view through the 
vehicle windshield 

The Commission finds that Rayner discloses a structure that is configured for 

accommodating a forward facing camera. RX-0014 at Fig. 2, 7:1-12; RX-0208 at QQ. 121 -122. 

Specifically, device 84 includes camera 22 that is mounted within the structure of 84. RX-0014 

at Fig. 2. In Figure 2, the lens of the forward facing camera extends out from the device 

structure. Id. 
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In addition to Figure 2, the specification describes the structure configured to 

accommodate the camera. For example, the specification states: "the device includes a housing 

in which the electronics and related elements ofthe invention are contained." RX-0014 at 2:15-

17. Additionally, Rayner states that "camera 22 is mounted in housing 18." Id. at 3:44-45. 

The specification also discloses that the device 84 "has an enclosure 86 that contains all 

· of the electronics and associated elements" described in Figure 3. !d. at 7:1-4. Figure 2 

illustrates the forward facing camera 22 having a field of view through the windshield. !d. at 

Fig. 2, 7:1-13. 

(viii) Claim 3: The accessory system of claim I, wherein said 
forward facing camera comprises a CMOS imaging 
device. 

The Commission finds that Rayner discloses that the forward facing camera can be a 

CMOS imaging device. RX-0014 at 3:39-42; RX-0208 at Q. 123. Specifically, Rayner states 

the forward facing camera 22 is "preferably" a "charge coupled device (CCD) or CMOS silicon 

sensor array." RX-0014 at 3:39-42. Accordingly, the Commission finds that the accessory 

system of claim 1 is configured to receive a CMOS forward facing camera. 

Magna did not assert any secondary considerations supporting a finding of non-

obviousness. See Magna Post-Hearing Br. at 77-90; Magna Post~Hearing Reply Br. at 39-41. 

Accordingly, the Commission finds claims 1 and 3 are rendered obvious by Rayner in view of 

Blank. 

The Commission finds that TRW did not meet its burden to prove that claim 90 of the 

'659 patent is obvious. TRW only cursorily alleged in a single sentence that the two additional 

limitations of claim 90 are met. TRW Post-Hearing Br. at 46. The single conclusory sentence 

34 



presented by TRW does not meet the standard of clear and convincing evidence. Accordingly, 

the Commission finds that Rayner and Blank do not render 90 obvious. 

2. Batavia, SafeTrac, and Navlab 1997 Demo 

The Commission takes no position on obviousness based on the combination that 

includes any ofBatavia, SafeTrac, and the Navlab 1997 Demo. 

D. America Invents Act 

TRW argues that the claims require the presence of a person and therefore, are directed to 

patent ineligible subject matter. TRW Pet. at 66. Specifically, TRW contends that claims 91 and 

92 of the '659 patent claim "a viewer" and Magna's expert, Dr. Min, testified the claimed viewer 

is a person; therefore, under the America Invents Act ("AlA") § 33(a), claims 91 and 92 are 

invalid. 18 I d. at 66-67 (quoting Tr. at 201:24-202: 13). This issue was not addressed in the ID. 

The Commission finds that a person is not a limitation of the claims, and therefore the 

claims are not invalid on this basis. The specification discloses "a substantially opaque black-out 

frit to mask the presence of such members when viewed from outside the vehicle through the 

front windshield." JX-003 at 38:58-60 (emphasis added)). The u~e of the word "when" 

illustrates that the patent does not require a person to actually be looking through the windshield 

from outside the automobile. Despite TRW's assertion that Dr. Min's testified that a person is 

required, Dr. Min's testimony does not change the language of the specification and claims 

which use the word "when." Accordingly, the Commission finds that claim 91 and 92 do not 

require a person, and are not directed to ineligible subject matter. 

18 Section 33(a) of the AlA states "Notwithstanding any other provision oflaw, no patent may 
issue on a claim directed to or encompassing a human organism." 
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VIII. DOMESTIC INDUSTRY: TECHNICAL PRONG 

A. '840 Patent 

1. TheiD 

The ID found that Magna did not satisfy the technical prong for the '840 patent because 

claim 30 is invalid. ID at 164. The ID found that if claim 30 is valid, Magna would satisfy the 

. technical prong because Magna directly contributes to the practice by its customers, specifically 

GM, of claim 30 by creating products covered by this claim. Id. at 166-68. Specifically, the ID 

found that Magna's products are forward-facing camera modules (i.e., "FCM") [[ 

]] to 

provide safety features such as forward collision and lane departure warnings. Id. The ID held 

that the evidence shows that when installed in a Chevrolet Equinox, a Magna FCM device meets 

all of the limitations of claim 30. Id. at 164-68. 

2. Analysis 

The Commission granted review of this issue solely to clarify any inconsistency in our 

precedent. The Commission affirms the ID's findings that there is no domestic industry because 

the claim asse1ied to show domestic industry (claim 30) is invalid. Section 337 requires that 

each complainant prove a domestic industry exists for "miicles protected by the patent." In this 

case, Magna has proven, and the ID found, that Magna practices each limitation of the domestic 

industry claim. However, the ID also found claim 30 to be invalid and that finding was adopted 

by the Commission. Section 337 requires that the domestic industry is related to an "miicle 

protected by the patent," and an invalid patent cannot protect any articles. Therefore, the ID's 

conclusion and findings are conect. The Commission notes that its regulations require the ID to 

analyze, as the ALJ did here, whether the limitations of the domestic industry claim are practiced 

by the domestic industry products even if the asserted domestic industry claim is found to be 
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invalid so that the Commission has a complete set of findings on the issue. See 19 C.F .R. 

§ 210.42(d). 

B. '659 Patent 

The Commission finds that the domestic industry requirement is not met for the '659 

patent. As discussed above, the Commission finds that claim 1, the only assetied domestic 

industry claim, is invalid. 

IX. CONCLUSION 

For the forgoing reasons, the Commission finds no violation of section 337 has occurred. 

By order of the Commission. 

Lisa R. Bation 
Secretary to the Commission 

Issued: December 1, 2015 
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